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Next Friday is Cuthbert’s feast, Britain’s most popular saint - “the Wonderworker of England” - prior to the murder of St Thomas Becket in 1170. He hailed from the region around Dunbar, east of Edinburgh, born around 634 AD.

He was a big boy, athletic and well able to outdo his peers in sporting activities. Aged 16 he was out at night tending the sheep herds in Lauderdale in the Lammermuir hills, when he saw a vision of angels ascending to heaven with a soul of great brightness. Later it emerged that St Aidan, the bishop of Lindisfarne had passed to his eternal reward at that precise hour.

Later Cuthbert entered the abbey of old Melrose, under its abbot Boisil, and trained as a monk. His long vigils and asceticism in food and drink gained him a reputation for holiness. 


In 657 he was sent with Eata to found an abbey at Ripon. The Celtic church celebrated Easter according to a calculation different from the Roman one. In 661 Ripon adopted Roman usage, and Eata and Cuthbert were sent packing. The abbey was handed over to Wilfrid. They returned to Melrose, where Cuthbert succeeded Boisil as abbot in 664. 


During the next five years he traveled on missions, including one to the double monastery of Coldingham, where St Aebbe, sister of king Oswald, was abbess. On occasion he was observed to spend the night praying in the sea, immersed up to his armpits – making himself a suitable patron saint for victims of hypothermia?

664 was the year of the Synod of Whitby, hosted by St Hilda to resolve the tensions between Roman and Celtic practices concerning the calendar and haircuts. The Celts were much attached to their characteristic tonsure, the shaving of the crown of the head.  

Finally King Oswy decreed that Roman practice must prevail. St Colman, abbot of Lindisfarne, resigned in protest. With numerous monks he returned to Iona and then to his native Ireland, to Inishbofin. 


In 669 Eata was appointed as Abbot of Lindisfarne, and brought Cuthbert with him to act as Prior. As a monk of Celtic rite, but who was willing to accept Roman usage, Cuthbert was the ideal candidate. 

It was no easy task. The remaining monks were resentful of the Whitby settlement. Cuthbert had to endure many arguments and insults. It took all his patience and tact to win them round. His gentleness made him quick to forgive those who repented. He would even perform part of a sinner’s penance himself. He was a true father to his monks.

Besides running the monastery, he conducted missions around Northumbria. He rapidly gained a reputation for holiness and miracles, but his soul longed for solitude, to be alone with God, for to love God is the first and greatest commandment.

Deserts are lacking in Britain, so he obtained permission to retire to a little offshore island, St Cuthbert’s isle. In 676 he moved to Inner Farne, living as a hermit for the next nine years. He built a small cell and a guest house for visitors. Here he was a true warrior of the Spirit, gaining power over the demons by prayer and fasting.

Further changes were afoot. St Theodore the Greek had arrived in 669 as Archbishop of Canterbury. In 684 a Synod near Alnwick designated Cuthbert as Bishop of Hexham, and his mentor Eata as Bishop of Lindisfarne. 

It was only with the greatest reluctance that Cuthbert could be persuaded to accept. Why exchange the contemplation of heavenly realities for the troubles of this world, unless it is the direct will of the Almighty? 


Eata and Cuthbert hurriedly arranged an exchange. In history not a few bishops have been ambitious to swap their smaller sees for richer and more powerful dioceses, especially ones which attract a red hat. The example of St John Fisher, who was willing all his life to serve England’s smallest, poorest diocese of Rochester, is not a popular one. 


Cuthbert’s motives were solitude, the sea, and his beloved monastery. At Easter 685 in York he was consecrated bishop. He continued his work of evangelization, studded with miracles of wisdom and healings. 

By Christmas 686 Cuthbert felt that death was approaching. He resigned and returned for the last time to his hermitage on Inner Farne. 


In March his fellow monks found Cuthbert , very weak, sitting on the beach. He had eaten nothing but onions for five days, and been assailed by demons more violently than ever before.

They carried him to his cell. His dying instructions to his brethren were that they keep peace and harmony among themselves, and be on guard against those who fostered pride and discord. They should welcome visitors and offer them hospitality, but have no truck with heretics or those who lived evil lives. He told them to study the Fathers, and to adhere to the monastic rule. 


He died on 20th March 687, aged 52.

His story was far from over. In 698 his body was found to be still fresh and incorrupt, a sign of sanctity. At his tomb miracles abounded. 

In 793 tragedy befell. The Vikings sacked Lindisfarne. Alcuin of York commented dryly that God was perhaps displeased by the lax lifestyle of the monks. 

Alarmed by further threats of Danish invasion, the monks fled Holy Island in 875, lugging Cuthbert’s body with them to Norham, then in 883 to Chester-le-Street. In 995 he visited Ripon for few months, but returning north, his coffin supposedly became immovable in the place of the “dun cow” – Durham.


The White Church, Durham’s first Anglo-Saxon cathedral, was erected to house the relics, and soon became a place of pilgrimage. King Canute was an early visitor, granting privileges and land to the monastery. The relics of Sts Bede, Aidan, Boisil, Aebbe, Eadberht, and Aethilwald were brought to Durham c.1020 to join Cuthbert. 


After 1066 the Normans impressed their rule upon north-east England by building their immense new cathedral:
"Grey towers of Durham 

Yet well I love thy mixed and massive piles 

Half church of God, half castle 'gainst the Scot 

And long to roam those venerable aisles 

With records stored of deeds long since forgot."      (Sir Walter Scott) 

In 1104 they translated Cuthbert’s relics to a monumental shrine behind the high altar. His body was amazingly still incorrupt and fragrant. His vestments were notably of Byzantine silk. Inside the coffin lay the Stonyhurst Gospels, a small Latin gospel book, and the head of St Oswald of Northumbria, similarly incorrupt. 

A sixteenth century monk wrote: [The shrine] "was estimated to be one of the most sumptuous in all England, so great were the offerings and jewells bestowed upon it, and endless the miracles that were wrought at it, even in these last days."


Such could not escape Henry VIII’s greed. Like pagan Vikings before them, the King’s commissioners Dr Ley, Dr Henley and Mr Blythman, with a goldsmith, arrived one day in 1537 to plunder the monastery. The goldsmith stripped off the precious metals and jewels, and came to a wooden chest strongly bound in iron. “Smash it open,” came the order.


“Alas I have broken one of his legs” cried the workman. Henley told him to throw down the bones. He replied that he could not, because they were held together by skin and tissue [850 years after the saint’s death!]. Ley went up, but Henley would not believe it, until he too climbed up. 


The saint was lying “whole, incorrupt, with his face bare, and his beard as of a fortnight’s growth, and all the vestments about his, as he was accustomed to say Mass.” 


The worried commissioners ordered the monks to carry the body to the vestry. They would report to the King, for him to decide what should be done. They departed for London with the gold, silver and precious stones.


Prior Hugh Whitehead surrendered the abbey in 1539 and was appointed Dean of the cathedral. A 1542 bill for 17s 4d survives, for preparing the grave to rebury Cuthbert beneath where his shrine had stood.


Interred now in a Protestant church, deprived of the celebration of Mass, Cuthbert’s body decayed! James Raine, Cathedral librarian, excavated the tomb in 1827, and found the three coffins dating from 1542, 1104 and 698, and within a skeleton in once glorious robes. An ivory comb, portable altar and silks given by King Athelstan were removed, as was the gold and garnet cross. They can be seen today in the cathedral museum.


In 1896 the Ushaw Review suggested that the body was not that of Cuthbert. The monks had allegedly smuggled the real body away, hidden it in a secret location known only to three Benedictine monks, and replaced it with another.

So in 1899 the skeleton was re-examined: the bones belong to a man in his fifties, of Cuthbert’s height as given by St Bede, of Anglo-Saxon rather than Norman physiognomy, with a broken leg. Membrane still visible on the bones suggested that the body was in a mummified state long after death. 

Plumber, the investigator, concluded that it was very unlikely the 1542 monks could have found another corpse suitable to substitute Cuthbert’s. He was reburied under a simple marble slab bearing his name – CVTHBERTVS – where he rests today in the Chapel of the Nine Altars. Sancte Cuthberte, ora pro nobis.
